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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: We're beginning

          3  today, I am Council Member Tracy Boyland, the Chair

          4  of the Women's Issues Committee, and today we're

          5  here to amend the New York City Charter in relations

          6  to creating a Domestic Violence Fatality Review

          7  Advisory Board.

          8                 Death is the most dramatic

          9  consequence of domestic violence. Every year 65 to

         10  100 people died from this problem. We can be sure

         11  that most of these are women. Still, in the past 15

         12  years the City has actually started to do a lot to

         13  address domestic violence. Funding from the Federal

         14  Violence Against Women's Act has allowed the NYPD to

         15  revolutionize how the police interact with

         16  survivors, and the City's contract for a variety of

         17  services to be provided to domestic violence

         18  victims, yet a significant issue continues to be

         19  coordination of services.

         20                 Interdisciplinary review of domestic

         21  violence fatality is intended to improve interagency

         22  case management and identify gaps and breakdowns in

         23  agencies and systems designed to protect

         24  individuals, children and families.

         25                 Fatality review is also intended to
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          2  develop bodies of information that can shape the

          3  formation of policies and guidelines for

          4  institutions serving affected individuals, children,

          5  as well as families.

          6                 Ultimately, the goal of the Fatality

          7  Review Board is to prevent death and injury stemming

          8  from domestic violence.

          9                 I introduced this bill last year, and

         10  we are continuing to work on it and we hope that at

         11  some point in time there is a procedure or mechanism

         12  that allows us to move this forward.

         13                 But here today we're joined by our

         14  esteemed, my esteemed colleague, Commissioner

         15  Yolanda Jimenez, from the Mayor's Office to Combat

         16  Domestic Violence, and she has brought along guests

         17  with her as well.

         18                 So, Commissioner, if you can have

         19  your guests state their names, or would you like to

         20  begin?

         21                 For the record, please.

         22                 INSPECTOR RYAN: Yes, good afternoon.

         23  I'm Inspector Kathy Ryan. I'm the Commanding Officer

         24  of the Domestic Violence Unit.

         25                 CAPTAIN MURPHY: I'm Captain Daniel
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          2  Murphy, the Commanding Officer of the Central

          3  Investigation and Resource Division of the Detective

          4  Bureau.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GIMBERT: Monique

          6  Gimbert, Deputy Commissioner, Mayor's Office to

          7  Combat Domestic Violence.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Wonderful.

          9                 Commissioner, would you like to

         10  start?

         11                 COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: Yes. Thank you,

         12  Madam Chair.

         13                 Good afternoon, Chairperson Boyland

         14  and members of the City Council's Women's Issues

         15  Committee. Thank you for this opportunity to speak

         16  with you for a second time regarding proposed Intro.

         17  366, formerly proposed Intro. 609.

         18                 As you know, Dr. Susan Wilt,

         19  Assistant Commissioner of the Bureau of Injury

         20  Epidemiology, New York City Department of Health and

         21  Mental Hygiene, was unable to join me this time in

         22  appearing before your Committee.

         23                 The Department of Health and Mental

         24  Hygiene has collected information on every femicide,

         25  female homicide, 12 years of age or older, that
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          2  occurred in New York City from 1990 through the

          3  present, primarily from Vital Statistics and the

          4  Office of the Chief Medical Examiner.

          5                 This data has been analyzed because

          6  approximately 85 percent of all intimate partner

          7  violence is committed against women.

          8                 Femicides are classified by

          9  circumstance and motive, primarily to distinguish

         10  those committed by an intimate partner, or a family

         11  member from other types.

         12                 All data is abstracted and entered

         13  into the Department of Mental Health and Hygiene

         14  data system. Information that is collected includes

         15  the demographic variable, such as race, ethnicity,

         16  date of birth, residence address and household

         17  composition, nature of injuries and primary cause of

         18  death.

         19                 Toxicology and rape kit findings,

         20  crime scenes data, such as address and location,

         21  anyone else who was killed or injured and children

         22  who were present.

         23                 Perpetrated data such as relationship

         24  to the victim and demographic information, the

         25  police crime report and follow-up, and qualitative
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          2  information that asks for the understanding of the

          3  circumstances surrounding the femicide.

          4                 Reports and articles on femicides

          5  from our New York City data are available from the

          6  period of 1990 through 1999, in a report

          7  representing years from 1995 through 2002 is near

          8  completion and will be available on the Department

          9  of Health and Mental Hygiene website at the end of

         10  this month.

         11                 Also, New York City femicide data is

         12  included in a recently published 11-city study

         13  investigating risk factors for intimate partner

         14  femicide and attempted femicide, co-authored by Dr.

         15  Wilt.

         16                 The aggregate, non-identifying data

         17  collected through the collaboration of the

         18  Department of Mental Health and Hygiene and the

         19  Office of the Chief Medical Examiner can be made

         20  available to the City Council on an annual basis in

         21  order to address the need identified by the Women's

         22  Issues Committee in the language of the proposed

         23  bill, to identify groups at risk of intimate partner

         24  violence and to learn the causes of these

         25  fatalities.

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 Data collection, to identify at-risk

          3  victims and risk factors, is a fundamental tool to

          4  target resources. My office routinely reviews data

          5  on victims collected through the City's domestic

          6  violence hotline, administered by Safe Horizon, to

          7  understand trends.

          8                 We also review all family-related

          9  homicide data in collaboration with the New York

         10  City Police Department to determine such factors as

         11  whether there had been any prior contact with the

         12  police or whether any orders of protection had been

         13  issued. I now would like to share with you some

         14  charts as illustrations of this type of analysis.

         15                 We've just put up some charts that

         16  will show you data that represents a total of 95

         17  homicides that occurred during calendar year of 2003

         18  through the end of May 2004, the current year.

         19                 Basically this chart illustrates, the

         20  green bar illustrates those homicides that occurred

         21  in 2003, and the purple indicates those that

         22  occurred in 2004, and where they occurred, so you

         23  can see Brooklyn being the highest and then the

         24  other boroughs following.

         25                 But we also tabulated this data
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          2  according to population and adjusted it for

          3  population and you can see that the Bronx and

          4  Brooklyn are very similar in terms of the number of

          5  incidents that took place in those boroughs.

          6                 This is probably one of the, when you

          7  look at the data, one of the trends that really

          8  concerns us in terms of domestic violence homicides,

          9  and that is the fact that in more than 74 percent,

         10  73 percent of the cases, there was no prior contact

         11  with police, that the victim had no prior contact

         12  with police.

         13                 Also I think quite telling is the

         14  fact that over 80, 87, that's why I needed the

         15  reading glasses, that in 87 percent of the cases,

         16  the victim had no current order of protection, and

         17  this I can tell you is something that we also saw

         18  when we looked at domestic violence-related

         19  homicides in 2002, and I would venture to say that

         20  if we went back in prior years that we would see

         21  this as well.

         22                 This is clearly of concern to all of

         23  us in the Administration, when we in fact find that

         24  such a high percentage of homicides, that the victim

         25  had no prior contact with the police and had no
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          2  current order of protection.

          3                 When we look at the gender of the

          4  victim, we can see that -- I'm sorry -- when we look

          5  at the gender of the victim, we see that 65 percent

          6  are female, and 34 percent are male.

          7                 When we look at the gender of the

          8  perpetrator, we see that 76 percent were male, and

          9  24 percent were female.

         10                 When we further look at the victim's

         11  age group, which I think is also very interesting

         12  data, as well as who the perpetrator was, we see in

         13  terms of age group that the largest age group, 42

         14  percent, the victims ranged from 25 to 45, and then

         15  we also see the breakdown of the younger age group

         16  between 18 and 24, 16 percent, and basically what

         17  this chart tells us unfortunately is that it's

         18  represented in almost every age group, including,

         19  and this is something that we've seen an increase,

         20  in some of those homicides in terms of the infants,

         21  and children under the age of ten.

         22                 Who is the perpetrator? And the

         23  relationship of the perpetrator to the victim, we

         24  can see that half, exactly half, and this is looking

         25  at 95 homicides, all of 2003, and up to the end of
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          2  May of 2004, that half of them were intimate

          3  partner, and also a very large percentage, 24

          4  percent were parents, 17 percent are the family

          5  members, and nine percent child.

          6                 When we look at the race of the

          7  victim, we see that half, just a little over half

          8  it's black, 25 percent Hispanic, 13.68 percent

          9  white, 4.21 percent Asian, 2.11 Indian, and 2.11

         10  other.

         11                 As you can see, of all the

         12  family-related homicides in 2003, those committed

         13  thus far in 2004 were May 31st.

         14                 Seventy-three percent of the victims

         15  had no known prior contact with the police, and 87

         16  percent of the victims had no current order of

         17  protection.

         18                 As a result, this Administration has

         19  focused attention on additional entry points for

         20  victims seeking help, including the health care

         21  system.

         22                 In May of 2003, Mayor Bloomberg

         23  announced Project HEAL, Health Emergency Assistance

         24  Link, a comprehensive plan to improve the services

         25  provided to victims of domestic violence at all 11
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          2  City hospitals.

          3                 Project HEAL enhances the ability of

          4  City hospitals to identify victims, document their

          5  injuries, and connect them with the social and legal

          6  services that they need.

          7                 In addition, City hospitals now use

          8  software to assist victims with orders of

          9  protection.

         10                 My office has been awarded several

         11  grants to examine how domestic violence victims from

         12  diverse communities experience assistance from the

         13  health and law enforcement system.

         14                 We have focused on training and

         15  outreach to diverse communities, including

         16  educational materials in 14 languages, and a

         17  training and reference guide for health care

         18  providers, whose patients represent diverse culture.

         19                 We have worked with the NYPD to

         20  update their domestic violence training curriculum.

         21  We also conduct outreach with community leaders in

         22  median immigrant communities, such as Sunset Park,

         23  Mount Hope and Jackson Heights, to name a few, which

         24  have suffered tragic family-related homicides.

         25                 We do this in order to publicize
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          2  language and culturally-specific resources in the

          3  community and to reassure its members that anyone,

          4  regardless of immigration status, can and should

          5  call the police and the City's domestic hot line for

          6  help.

          7                 We will continue to work with the

          8  NYPD to conduct joint strategic outreach to

          9  communities based on our review of aggregate

         10  fatality data.

         11                 In March of this year we launched a

         12  new pilot project with the NYPD in the 115th

         13  Precinct in Jackson Heights, East Elmhurst and North

         14  Coronia, Queens, to meet the complex needs of

         15  immigrant victims. In that precinct, 77 percent of

         16  residents are foreign-born and 83 percent speak a

         17  language other than English at home.

         18                 The new program equips officers who

         19  respond to domestic violence incidents with

         20  specially programmed cellular telephones which bring

         21  live, immediate access to language interpretation

         22  services in over 150 different languages.

         23                 As of the end of May, the Language

         24  Line telephones have been used 97 times in 12

         25  different languages. This program will allow
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          2  officers to obtain more accurate information in the

          3  victims' language. We will closely monitor this

          4  project, in conjunction with the NYPD and the Queens

          5  District Attorney's Office, to assess its impact on

          6  increased reporting by victims; increased referrals

          7  to social services; and successful outcomes in

          8  criminal cases. The goal is to assist victims as

          9  early as possible before a homicide occurs.

         10                 As you know, an ongoing initiative of

         11  our office, the Domestic Violence Response Teams

         12  Pilot Program, utilizes a coordinated community

         13  response, generally considered the most effect

         14  approach to combat domestic violence.

         15                 The DVRT Program created a structure

         16  to discuss selected high-risk cases collaboratively

         17  among 11 City agencies, including the Departments of

         18  Probation, Corrections, the Administration for

         19  Children's Services, the Human Resources

         20  Administration, the New York City Housing Authority

         21  and victim service organizations, such as Safe

         22  Horizons, which are charged with providing direct

         23  services to domestic violence victims.

         24                 By focusing on service provision in

         25  communities that have a high number of domestic
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          2  violence incidents, DVRT not only enhances the

          3  services to selected families, before homicide

          4  occurs, but also provides the City with information

          5  to respond to the needs of all domestic violence

          6  victims citywide.

          7                 As of May 2004, DVRT has assisted 129

          8  high-risk domestic violence victims and 228

          9  children. Prior to joining the DVRT program, these

         10  victims called the police for help an average of

         11  five times, and over half of the victims had been

         12  threatened or harmed with a weapon. Despite the

         13  extremely high-risk nature of these cases, over 96

         14  percent of the victims suffered no subsequent

         15  physical harm after enrolling in the program, and 88

         16  percent reported no further unwanted contact with

         17  the perpetrator.

         18                 In fact, because of the DVRT program,

         19  several probationers, known only to the Department

         20  of Probation for their underlying non-domestic

         21  violence crime, were identified as current domestic

         22  violence offenders. By sharing information through

         23  DVRT, the Department of Probation was able to

         24  violate several of these offenders and transfer them

         25  to a higher level of supervision or re-incarcerate
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          2  them.

          3                 Dr. Jacqueline Campbell of Johns

          4  Hopkins University collaborated with Dr. Susan Wilt

          5  of our Department of Health and Mental Hygiene on a

          6  long-term study on intimate partner homicides in 11

          7  U.S. cities, including New York City.

          8                 As a result of this research, we are

          9  improving City services. An enhanced screening tool,

         10  as well as risk assessment tool developed by Dr.

         11  Campbell and her team, will be incorporated by the

         12  Health and Hospitals Corporation in the new

         13  paperless system of the City's hospitals. We have

         14  also worked with the New York City State Office for

         15  the Prevention of Domestic Violence to update the

         16  new police Domestic Incident Report so that it

         17  includes additional risk factors.

         18                 We have done this work with limited

         19  resources and have chosen to direct those efforts to

         20  assist victims of domestic violence before they

         21  become homicide victims.

         22                 Before finally committed to the

         23  promulgation of Intro. 366, and with the knowledge

         24  of the efforts that I have just described have been

         25  undertaken with the full support of the Women's
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          2  Issues Committee, please consider the following

          3  issues related to the proposed bill.

          4                 1. Limited cases, those where

          5  homicide and suicide has taken place, can be

          6  reviewed because a review of the death must be

          7  delayed until any criminal prosecutions connected

          8  with the death are completed and there is no

          9  possibility of civil litigation. In 2004, there were

         10  only two homicide/suicide cases which may qualify

         11  for review; this limits the ability to obtain real

         12  time information on how current systems are

         13  operating.

         14                 2. Family members or friends will

         15  have to be contacted and they may not wish to reopen

         16  this tragic part of their lives.

         17                 3. Without proper statutory authority

         18  to release confidential information, it would not be

         19  possible to conduct the reviews because of lack of

         20  access to information, such as substance abuse

         21  treatment history, probation records, contact with

         22  local domestic violence or sexual violence programs,

         23  mental health records, physical health records,

         24  autopsy reports, gun purchase and background checks

         25  and so forth.
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          2                 State statutory would be required to

          3  overcome state law prohibiting agencies, as well as

          4  not-for-profit organizations from disclosing

          5  confidential information.

          6                 Without State legislation expressly

          7  permitting the type of sharing of information

          8  envisioned by Intro. 366, agencies and

          9  non-for-profits would be unable to share essential

         10  information which would be critical to a fatality

         11  review.

         12                 Equally important is the difficulty

         13  in shielding information gleaned in the case review

         14  process from civil or criminal discovery.

         15                 My office has examined fatality

         16  reviews from other jurisdictions and found that we

         17  are already implementing most of their

         18  recommendations, which include education, outreach,

         19  greater housing opportunities, supervised visitation

         20  programs, enhanced law enforcement involvement, and

         21  media involvement.

         22                 In closing, I would like to thank

         23  Chairperson Boyland and the members of the Women's

         24  Issues Committee for their tireless support of their

         25  efforts to reduce domestic violence in New York
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          2  City, and for your open dialogue with the Mayor's

          3  Office to Combat Domestic Violence.

          4                 I will be pleased to answer any

          5  questions you have today and to meet with you

          6  further on any of the issues discussed.

          7                 Again, thank you for your commitment

          8  to the victims of domestic violence.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you,

         10  Commissioner, for that testimony.

         11                 Just a few questions, but before I do

         12  that, I've been joined by Council Member Olly

         13  Koppell, and Council Member Sara Gonzalez. Thank you

         14  for joining us today.

         15                 Good afternoon.

         16                 Commissioner, do you believe that

         17  this Board will help to prevent other violent

         18  issues? And the concern, obviously, of Intro. 366,

         19  is that we can bring the agencies together in order

         20  to really combat some of the issues.

         21                 And noted is your point number three

         22  which states some of the legality issues that we are

         23  now working with other agencies to try to combat.

         24  There's already been, as we've covered this hearing,

         25  and covered this issue, all the agencies have come
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          2  together, pretty much not at the same time, to

          3  report to me or report to the Committee or the

          4  public on what their concerns are.

          5                 Are you completely disagreeing with

          6  the facts that this Board will not help us combat

          7  domestic violence or not need it?

          8                 COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: I don't think

          9  the issue is that the creation of the Board would

         10  not be helpful. I think we have outlined our

         11  concerns that have more to do with issues regarding

         12  confidentiality laws, as well as our ability then to

         13  effectively share information, and have, and I think

         14  you'll hear that from some of the service providers

         15  that will testify, in having access to information

         16  that they may have.

         17                 We have, as you can see I think from

         18  the charts that we have shared with you this

         19  morning, that we already on a regular basis sit down

         20  with the New York City Police Department, in

         21  particular the Commanding Officer of the Domestic

         22  Violence Unit, Inspector Ryan, Dr. Susan Wilt, who

         23  has been doing this work, in terms of analyzing

         24  femicides since 1990, because we think that the type

         25  of information that we're able to gather, the
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          2  aggregate information that we have been able to

          3  gather, and analyze, is very helpful to us in terms

          4  of strategic outreach, in terms of resources, just

          5  the mere fact that we can share with you here this

          6  morning the fact that in so many of the cases there

          7  was no prior contact with police, and an even higher

          8  number of cases there was no current order of

          9  protection, clearly signals to us collectively that

         10  we need to go out and do a better job in terms of

         11  providing outreach and information about the

         12  importance of obtaining an order of protection,

         13  about the importance of contacting the police when

         14  in fact there is an incident that occurs.

         15                 The 11-city study, and some of the

         16  information on that study, which is already

         17  available, outlines a number of risk factors, it

         18  also outlines and makes some conclusions about

         19  protective factors against homicides. Two of the

         20  most important ones being a prior domestic violence

         21  arrest.

         22                 They stipulate that, and this

         23  particular study, 11 cities, looked at 250 cases of

         24  femicide, and found, again, in those cases where

         25  there was a prior police, domestic violence arrest,
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          2  that that in fact, for other cases was a protective

          3  factor, and I think the fact that we sit down on a

          4  regular basis, that we look to look at areas,

          5  communities in which we can do further outreach,

          6  share this information with providers, and let them

          7  know how critical it is to inform victims.

          8                 We also learned from that particular

          9  study that when family members were questioned about

         10  whether or not the victim of the homicide felt that

         11  she was going -- that in fact if there were threats

         12  to kill, whether in fact she thought she would be a

         13  victim of a femicide, 50 percent said no, responded

         14  no. So, we think there's also issues of perhaps in

         15  some cases underestimating the level of violence,

         16  and we realize the complexity and the reality that

         17  many of these victims face, that perhaps because of

         18  fear, because of a whole host of issues, the first

         19  response may not be call the police. But we also see

         20  clearly a pattern when we look at data from 2002,

         21  2003 and currently 2004, that in many of these cases

         22  there is no prior contact with law enforcement.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Commissioner, I

         24  agree with everything, and as you quoted Dr. Wilt's

         25  statistics, I found them to be astonishing, but I
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          2  also, just at some point, the coordination of the

          3  information among the agencies in which she received

          4  some of her information, I think the broader, if you

          5  had to paint with a broad brush, there would be

          6  other agencies that would probably be able to be

          7  just as helpful and make your presentation I guess a

          8  bit more insightful as it is, but a tad more

          9  insightful if they were really able to sit down at

         10  the table, and you already stated that you are

         11  sitting down, you do a weekly or a monthly meeting

         12  already to pull some agencies together. You know,

         13  I'm trying to rationalize why the opposition to

         14  bringing ACS, ACD, I mean bringing HHC, all of these

         15  agencies to the table. It's baffling to me.

         16                 COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: No, it's not

         17  opposition to bringing these agencies to the table

         18  at all. On the contrary, not only did we create an

         19  interagency task force, but through our pilot

         20  program which I described at length, the DVRT

         21  Program, that allows us not only to provide really

         22  essential services to high-risk victims, we sit down

         23  and case conference with 11 City agencies that in

         24  fact sit down, look at that particular case, that

         25  particular situation. We're able to do that because
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          2  the victim signs a release to have that information

          3  shared. So, we're able to have ACS at the table,

          4  we're able to have other agencies as needed at the

          5  table.

          6                 And so through that program, not only

          7  are we able to assist victims of high risk, in very

          8  high risk cases, I have to say that our success rate

          9  has been, quite frankly, phenomenal, when you see

         10  that 90 percent, 95 percent of the victims had no

         11  subsequent incidence of violence.

         12                 That's very, very high for cases that

         13  are considered, the Police Department identified and

         14  considered high-risk along with Safe Horizon's

         15  workers in the precincts.

         16                 We have also, through DVRT, been able

         17  to promulgate a number of policies that have broader

         18  impact, not just on the small number that currently

         19  participates, but on victims at large, that have had

         20  an effect on housing and trying to make it easier to

         21  obtain housing, because we all know that that is

         22  probably one of the number one issue for many

         23  victims of domestic violence.

         24                 We are not adverse to sitting down

         25  and working with agencies. That is, in essence, part
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          2  of the function of my office and my role, is to

          3  coordinate the efforts of all these agencies. There

          4  were 14 City agencies that in some way, shape or

          5  form touched the lives of victims on perpetrators.

          6  You know, the City dedicates quite a number of

          7  resources, not only in terms of personnel, when we

          8  tally up the personnel, it's over 700 City workers,

          9  including police officers, Corrections, hospital

         10  workers and others. And you know, I think that we

         11  have brought in all of these agencies to coordinate

         12  these efforts and we'll continue to do so.

         13                 The objections to the bill and the

         14  concerns to the bill are not about coordinating

         15  efforts and talking to City agencies or the

         16  providers, the concerns for the bill are legal

         17  concerns that have more to do, and I can certainly

         18  have Captain Murphy expand on that, about sharing

         19  information with not only other City agencies, but

         20  certainly non-for-profit representatives, or

         21  non-City agencies. And maybe he can talk a little

         22  bit about that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Captain,

         24  identify yourself for the record, please.

         25                 CAPTAIN MURPHY: I'm Captain Daniel
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          2  Murphy. I'm the Commanding Officer of Central

          3  Investigation and Resource Division of the Detective

          4  Bureau of the Police Department.

          5                 With regard to homicide

          6  investigation, I see that's the highest priority

          7  investigation that we have. Accordingly, the highest

          8  confidentiality is assigned to that investigation.

          9                 In the course of a homicide

         10  investigation, we conduct interviews of many people.

         11  Anyone that had any contact with the victim, people

         12  that had contact with the family, who might be

         13  neighbors, relatives, children, friends, a whole

         14  host of people who give us statements that we record

         15  on what's called a "DD5" or a "Complaint Follow-Up

         16  Report." Those are entered into a case file and

         17  that's maintained with the utmost confidentiality.

         18  Because should that information become public,

         19  individuals who were identified there could become

         20  the subject of retaliation by anyone who may be

         21  associated with the perpetrator of the crime.

         22                 Other issues there are privacy issues

         23  related to what statements they make. They're making

         24  a statement to the Police Department in confidence,

         25  with the understanding of this is part of a

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  confidential investigation, and will not be released

          3  to the public or to any other agency. So, it's

          4  critical that we maintain that confidentiality so

          5  that information which is vital to this

          6  investigation is forthcoming to us.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you,

          8  Captain Murphy.

          9                 If there's anything you'd like to

         10  add, state your name and affiliation for the record.

         11                 INSPECTOR RYAN: I'm Inspector Kathy

         12  Ryan. I'm the Commanding Officer of the Domestic

         13  Violence Unit.

         14                 The Police Department also, although

         15  we support I guess the mission and the goals of the

         16  bill, we have some grave concerns as well. I guess,

         17  some as also mentioned by Commissioner Jimenez, but

         18  in addition, we'd like to indicate that the work

         19  that would be proposed is duplicative work of what

         20  is already being done within the New York City

         21  Police Department of whatever we have available to

         22  us and to look at what are the possible patterns or

         23  trends of the crime, not only of the homicide, many

         24  domestic violence crimes, falling within

         25  misdemeanor, felony, or even in lower level crime.
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          2                 Again, we work very closely with the

          3  Office to Combat Domestic Violence, again as her

          4  office coordinates with the other agencies.

          5                 In addition to, as Captain Murphy

          6  said, looking at what is proposed by this bill at

          7  every case, of the homicide case, the

          8  confidentiality issues, is a very real issue.

          9                 The other concern we have is the

         10  definition. The definitions as proposed by this bill

         11  is very broadly expanded beyond our definition of

         12  what falls within domestic violence. And our

         13  definition not only includes what is a Family Court

         14  act, but also expanded it into two other areas.

         15                 As Commissioner Jimenez has mentioned

         16  and her charts show you, more than 72 percent of our

         17  homicide victims have had no prior police contact.

         18                 This is, again, a very complex issue,

         19  something that we in our offices also always looking

         20  to see is there any pattern, any trend, any kind of

         21  issues are we not addressing?

         22                 Currently the New York City Police

         23  Department is reaching out even further by doing

         24  even more home visits by the domestic violence

         25  offices of those mentors or those contacts that we
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          2  do have, whether it be, first of all, by phone

          3  contact, but more so than out we are going out

          4  physically to the homes of the victims.

          5                 And, again, I think I really do need

          6  to emphasize along with Commissioner Jimenez that

          7  the reachout, more of the reachout, how ever it can

          8  be done, is so important, and for any victims to

          9  feel comfortable and to report the crime. Or, if

         10  it's not a crime, to go forward and reach help in

         11  the other arenas.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: I'm happy to

         13  hear that the Commissioner, obviously we know that

         14  she is very diligent in the work that she's done,

         15  and has sat down with the 14 agencies, but I think

         16  you just spoke to it, if there is a pattern or a

         17  trend that was missed, then possibly this bill, this

         18  would be able to help us coordinate. And that's the

         19  key word here, "coordinate" the key efforts beyond

         20  some of the legal statistics that we will work out

         21  and negotiate amongst the Committee and the

         22  Administration.

         23                 Coordination is what we're talking

         24  about.

         25                 Let me just have my colleagues who
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          2  have questions, Council Member Sara Gonzalez.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Good

          4  afternoon, Commissioner.

          5                 Thank you for your testimony. I did

          6  get here a little bit late. But first of all, I want

          7  to thank you for all the support you've given us in

          8  District 38. Unfortunately, we've had a tragedy in

          9  our community in respect to domestic violence, and I

         10  am a sponsor of part of this bill that is here being

         11  spoken about today.

         12                 I have a real concern, and I think my

         13  concern basically is, to have a domestic violence

         14  review board, a Fatality Review Board, I urge you,

         15  and I urge the Mayor and I urge the Administration

         16  to look at this very closely. Because we need as

         17  much as we can get.

         18                 For example, Sunset Park, I know that

         19  about a month ago there were at least 3,000 calls to

         20  our local precinct in respect to domestic violence.

         21  Information and analysis, which what this Board

         22  would do, is so, so important to probably saving a

         23  life.

         24                 It's difficult to put it in dollars,

         25  but the reality is that we need to look at it. We
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          2  need to look at what it is that we do as a society.

          3  Because you know what? Systems are put in place for

          4  improvement. And I see that, and I see this as

          5  looking to improve and hopefully save lives.

          6                 Your work is incredible. The

          7  information that you provide is incredible. I had a

          8  forum list about two weeks ago in my district, and

          9  we're going to continue to have education

         10  information, but if we were to do this, which I

         11  believe this is the right way to go, maybe we need

         12  to look at it, and the chair and to look at what we

         13  need to change, if there's any changes, but we

         14  certainly advocate an urge that you look at this,

         15  because this is a body that would work with what

         16  already is in place.

         17                 And I also just want to say that

         18  because, again, in the United States in America, we

         19  embrace immigration, we have to look at people when

         20  they come to us, the cultural backgrounds.

         21                 In my community, for example, there

         22  are a lot of cultural barriers, still stigmatized,

         23  for example, machismo, fatalism, these are part of a

         24  culture and a community and a district, and probably

         25  the entire City where there are people of different
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          2  origins, so we need to be able to understand that

          3  you should be reporting, but when you're not you

          4  need to be taught how to do it, and we need the

          5  instruments to do so. And I think that this is an

          6  excellent intro, and I hope, and I urge you to

          7  continue to look at it. And thank you for your

          8  testimony.

          9                 Thank you, Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you, Sara.

         11                 Let me just read a definition.

         12  Domestic violence fatality shall mean a death of a

         13  victim resulting from an act or acts of domestic

         14  violence.

         15                 The term domestic violence fatality

         16  shall also include a death of any other persons

         17  present at the time an act or acts of domestic

         18  violence occurred, and the death of any person

         19  including, but not limited to, any law enforcement

         20  officer, emergency medical or health care

         21  professional, a representative of any organization

         22  or agency that provides services to victims or

         23  domestic violence or other individuals that occur,

         24  which such persons was responding to an incident of

         25  domestic violence; is that the definition you're
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          2  saying that you have a problem with?

          3                 CAPTAIN RYAN: Yes. Our Office, in

          4  domestic violence, when we look at any statistics or

          5  trends or patterns, basically that is a much broader

          6  definition than what the New York City Police

          7  Department utilizes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Okay. I just

          9  wanted to be clear on how we should begin our

         10  negotiations.

         11                 Council Member Koppell, questions?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

         13  Madam Chair.

         14                 The idea of this bill is to create an

         15  advisory board to do what you indicated you already

         16  do to one extent or another.

         17                 I can see that there might be some

         18  concern about appointments by the Speaker of members

         19  of the Administration, and that might be a technical

         20  thing that the staff might want to look at, because

         21  I know that might cause the Mayor or the Mayor's

         22  representatives some concern.

         23                 But the idea of having an advisory

         24  board that would formalize the kind of coordination

         25  that you indicate already takes place doesn't seem
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          2  to me to offend anything that you said you want to

          3  accomplish.

          4                 This would be kind of formalizing

          5  what you already have, and it would also require

          6  that each incident would be looked at so that it

          7  would be similar to other advisory boards that have

          8  been created at other various levels of government,

          9  and assure that each incident would, that the staff

         10  of this advisory board would look at each incident

         11  and perhaps trends could be determined.

         12                 I recognize the confidentiality

         13  problems, but maybe they can be overcome by State

         14  legislation, as you pointed out? Maybe the

         15  information that the Board looks at has to be more

         16  limited. I mean, certainly there's non-confidential

         17  information that could be helpful in looking at

         18  trends and possible ameliorative measures that the

         19  City could take.

         20                 So, I can understand some opposition

         21  to the technical aspect, with the Speaker appointing

         22  people who are commissioners, but the idea of having

         23  an advisory board, including all relevant officials,

         24  doesn't seem to me to offend anything that you are

         25  trying to accomplish, and I wonder whether you might
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          2  -- you know, if the problem was the way the

          3  appointments are done, I think that probably could

          4  be worked on.

          5                 I don't understand your opposition to

          6  the idea of creating a coordinated advisory board?

          7                 COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: Council Member

          8  Koppell, and Madam Chair, let me just say it again

          9  for the record, that we are not in opposition to the

         10  concept of creating fatality review board. Clearly,

         11  as you just stated what the Board intends to do, to

         12  create a board would do, is to look at trends, and

         13  look at some of the data which we're already looking

         14  at.

         15                 But what the particular provisions of

         16  this particular intro call for is something that we

         17  are unable to provide.

         18                 We're unable at this juncture,

         19  without enabling State legislation from coming

         20  together and having, for example, the Department of

         21  Health and Mental Hygiene share critical information

         22  with us or share critical information with non-City

         23  employees. Currently they would not be able to do

         24  that.

         25                 So, yes, we would need enabling
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          2  legislation much like, and we've included that in

          3  the testimony, much like the Social Service Law,

          4  which provided the authority to create our local ACS

          5  Child Fatality Review Team, which is currently in

          6  place, and reviews all child fatalities where there

          7  have been open cases with ACS, but that have

          8  enabling legislation from the State so that agencies

          9  such as the Department of Education, the Department

         10  of Health and Mental Hygiene, the Medical Examiner's

         11  Office, the Police Department, ACS do come together

         12  to review those fatalities.

         13                 Again, we clearly see the value and

         14  know the value in looking at why is this taking

         15  place, who are the victims, is it a pattern of age,

         16  a pattern of a particular area within the City.

         17  We're very concerned about what we talked, what we

         18  showed in the graph, indicating that many of these

         19  victims had no prior contact with police, what does

         20  that mean? What do we do? Is it an issue with

         21  perhaps the victims being concerned about their

         22  immigration status? We go into communities

         23  extensively and talk about Executive Order 41, which

         24  basically states that any victim of a crime or

         25  witness to a crime, the police cannot inquire about
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          2  the immigration status of that individual. You know,

          3  we have information in 14 different languages. As

          4  Council Member Gonzalez mentioned, we understand the

          5  complexity in a City like New York, with the

          6  diversity and the various cultures that we have to

          7  be able to, meet the needs of the different

          8  communities, and try to make sure that we understand

          9  what is happening in those communities, so that the

         10  services that the City provide through the Police

         11  Department, through the Health Department, and

         12  through other agencies can, in fact, be utilized by

         13  these communities.

         14                 So, we do not in concept the creation

         15  of such a board that looks to identify how do we

         16  prevent, what else can we do to make sure that we

         17  reduce the incidents of domestic violence-related

         18  fatalities. We're all very concerned, everyone who

         19  is sitting here before you, as well as I know the

         20  Chairperson and those members of the Council who are

         21  part of this Committee are concerned.

         22                 We went to Sunset Park after terrific

         23  domestic violence fatality, and the Council member

         24  was there in an effort to not only talk about that

         25  incident, but also share information in terms of
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          2  risk factors and in terms of what to look for.

          3                 In that particular case, there was no

          4  prior report to the police. We were joined by the

          5  commanding officer of the 72nd Precinct, and by

          6  domestic violence prevention officers from that

          7  precinct, again, trying to get the message out that

          8  this is a critical issue that is of concern to all

          9  of us, people are not reporting, and that becomes

         10  essential.

         11                 If we're able to be successful in

         12  reducing some of these numbers, then, you know, if

         13  you look back a number of years nationwide and some

         14  statistics here in the City, we have been able to

         15  reduce overall crime and overall domestic

         16  violence-related crime as well but we need to do

         17  more. Because one fatality, and we see that it's

         18  everyone, it's children, it's infants, it's elders,

         19  it's children, it's parents, unfortunately,

         20  committing some of these homicides. It's of great

         21  concern to all of us. And so our outreach has to

         22  reflect that and we think we learn a great deal from

         23  some of the aggregate statistics.

         24                 If there were enabling legislation

         25  that we could share information, sit down and look
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          2  at every case, I can tell you that it would be very

          3  time consuming and resource intensive, but that

          4  would not be the only concern. To the primary

          5  concern that Captain Murphy mentioned earlier, to

          6  share information about an open case, we would not

          7  be able to do that. We can only review cases where

          8  there has been a homicide/suicide, where there is a

          9  closed case, and we can look at what were the

         10  particulars in that case.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But I'm glad

         12  to hear that you support it in concept.

         13                 I think that, well, as state

         14  legislation is required, that's not impossible,

         15  certainly, as you say, it already exists with

         16  respect to certain children fatalities.

         17                 So, I appreciate you support the

         18  concept.

         19                 I do have one other question as

         20  related, and that is, have you found, in your review

         21  of these cases, that the order of protection is in

         22  fact an effective instrument? Do you think  it's an

         23  effective instrument?

         24                 We have so many cases we hear about

         25  where there's an order of protection in effect and
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          2  the violence, and often times, unfortunately, the

          3  homicide still, or femicide still occurs.

          4                 COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: But I think

          5  what we actually show is the contrary, and, we're,

          6  again, looking at data for all of 2003 and 2004.

          7  Maybe we can just show the charts once more for the

          8  Council members that have just joined us.

          9                 That in 87 percent of the cases, and

         10  this is for all homicides in 2003, and domestic

         11  violence homicides that bring us to the end of May

         12  of 2004, that in 87 percent of those cases, a little

         13  more than 87 percent of those cases, there was no

         14  current order of protection.

         15                 So, I think that, you know, we all

         16  hear all too often, every time I interviewed or

         17  talked to different groups, you know, you're asked,

         18  is a piece of paper really going to protect someone?

         19                 Maybe, maybe not, but what we can

         20  clearly see from this is that there is no order of

         21  protection, there is no piece of paper, and clearly

         22  there are many orders that are issued on a daily

         23  basis and there are many arrests, and I think

         24  inspector Ryan can perhaps speak to that for

         25  violations of orders of protection on how seriously
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          2  we do take the issue when somebody in fact is able

          3  to get an order of protection, which is why we're

          4  also encouraging and working with Health and

          5  Hospitals so that if a victim enters the health

          6  system, that they're able to at least apply for an

          7  order of protection while they're at the hospital.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: This hearing

          9  is not the appropriate place to explore this in

         10  detail and I don't want to divert.

         11                 I just would like you to answer this

         12  question yes or no. Do you believe that the issuance

         13  of an order of protection is of assistance in

         14  protecting victims of domestic violence?

         15                 COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: All right,

         17  thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you,

         19  Council Member.

         20                 We've been joined by Council Member

         21  Diana Reyna, and Council Member Charles Barron.

         22                 Obviously we need to sit down and go

         23  back to the drawing board to work on how we can come

         24  to some middle ground on this piece of legislation.

         25  But I also do want to mention that we were ready to
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          2  put our money where our mouth is, our mouth where

          3  our money is, and actually baseline some assistance

          4  to help this process work smoothly and actually to

          5  put it in the budget for this year. I just want to

          6  make a note to that, that we are moving forward.

          7                 Thank you, Commissioner, and others,

          8  for joining us. And I guess we will adjourn, for

          9  this moment on this particular issue with you and

         10  come back at a later day.

         11                 Thank you for joining us.

         12                 COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: Thank you. And

         13  we're more than glad to sit down to keep discussing

         14  how we can make this work. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Great.

         16                 Next we'll hear from Safe Horizon,

         17  Bea Hanson. I'll just have everyone come up. Alisa

         18  Del Tufo, from Connect. Welcome, Alisa. And Anna

         19  Hunter from Sanctuary for Families. And I'd like to

         20  thank my colleagues for joining us on this very

         21  interesting issue. We're obviously discussing Intro.

         22  No. 366, to amend the New York City Charter in

         23  relation to creating a Domestic Violence Fatality

         24  Review Advisory Board.

         25                 Thank you, ladies.
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          2                 Whoever would like to go first.

          3                 Okay, you press the button. When the

          4  light goes off, that means you're on.

          5                 State your name and affiliation for

          6  the record.

          7                 MS. HANSON: Good afternoon. My name

          8  is Bea Hanson, and I'm Chief Program Officer at Safe

          9  Horizon.

         10                 On behalf of Safe Horizon, I really

         11  want to thank members of the City Council Women's

         12  Issue Committee, particularly Chairperson Tracy

         13  Boyland, for inviting us to testify today on Intro.

         14  366, and for providing a forum to discuss the

         15  important issue of domestic violence-related

         16  fatalities.

         17                 We'd also like to acknowledge Mayor

         18  Bloomberg, Commissioner Yolanda Jimenez of the

         19  Mayor's Office to Combat Family Violence, and

         20  Commissioner Ray Kelly, as well as Inspector Kathy

         21  Ryan of the New York City Police Department, for

         22  their ongoing partnership with Safe Horizon and

         23  other social service providers in combatting

         24  domestic violence and domestic violence fatality.

         25                 As you may know, Safe Horizon is the
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          2  nation's leading crime victim assistance

          3  organization. We provide services to more than

          4  350,000 New Yorkers who are victims of domestic

          5  violence, sexual assault, child abuse, and other

          6  forms of crime and abuse.

          7                 Nearly 90 percent of the clients that

          8  we serve are persons of color, and 85 percent are

          9  female.

         10                 The majority of clients that we serve

         11  are victims of domestic violence.

         12                 As you all know, domestic violence is

         13  a complex problem that affects not only the

         14  individual victims but also families and

         15  communities. Safe Horizon responds to this problem

         16  through comprehensive programs that provide crisis

         17  intervention and ongoing support services, legal

         18  advocacy, shelter and practical assistance to

         19  victims of domestic violence in communities in all

         20  five boroughs in New York City, in the courts,

         21  police precincts, public housing and schools.

         22                 We also work with the Mayor in the

         23  Office to Combat Domestic Violence in such

         24  innovative programs as Project HEAL and the Domestic

         25  Violence Response Team, DVRT, pilot programs that
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          2  Commissioner Jimenez has discussed before.

          3                 There is no question that there is an

          4  extraordinary demand for domestic violence services.

          5  In Fiscal Year '03, our 24 hour/seven-day-a-week

          6  domestic violence hot line received over 148,000

          7  calls, or 406 calls each and every day of Fiscal

          8  Year '03.

          9                 Over the past five years, the call

         10  volume to this hot line has increased by 67 percent.

         11  At the same time, our police programs, which are

         12  located in 25 police precincts and police service

         13  areas in the City identified nearly 57,000 cases of

         14  domestic violence in Fiscal Year '03.

         15                 Various studies document the link

         16  between domestic violence and femicide. According to

         17  the American Journal of Public Health, 70 percent of

         18  murdered women have been previously physically

         19  abused by the partner who ultimately killed them.

         20                 The study notes that femicide, the

         21  homicide of women, is the leading cause of death in

         22  the United States in young African-American women,

         23  ages 15 to 45 years, and the seventh leading cause

         24  of premature death among women overall.

         25                 The study found that women who are
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          2  murdered are more likely to be murdered by an

          3  intimate partner than a stranger.

          4                 Given the realities of femicide and

          5  domestic violence, we at Safe Horizon commend the

          6  intent of Intro. 366. We agree with the City Council

          7  that if we are to prevent domestic violence

          8  fatalities, we must better understand the factors

          9  that lead to such fatalities.

         10                 We know that New York City has been

         11  at the forefront of capturing and analyzing domestic

         12  violence fatality data from the NYPD and the Medical

         13  Examiner's Office.

         14                 That important analysis has in turn

         15  provided the basis for some of the City's newest and

         16  most innovative domestic violence programs,

         17  including Project HEAL and DVRT.

         18                 Though we support a creation of a

         19  review board, we think it behooves us to be careful

         20  to make certain that we do not waste limited

         21  resources or duplicate the work that others are

         22  already doing.

         23                 In terms of bill specifics, we have

         24  some concerns about the composition of the Domestic

         25  Violence Fatality Review Board.
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          2                 Given that New York City statistics

          3  show that only 27 percent of family-related homicide

          4  cases have had prior contact with the police, as

          5  Commissioner Jimenez testified, it is essential that

          6  the composition of the Board be broadened to include

          7  others likely to have had contact with potential

          8  victims.

          9                 We believe a number of

         10  non-governmental parties on the Board should be

         11  increased and that additional spots should be

         12  reserved for survivors of domestic violence, and

         13  non-governmental organizations providing services to

         14  domestic violence victims, particularly

         15  organizations that specifically assist immigrants,

         16  as well as religious leaders and civic cultural or

         17  social organizations that have significant

         18  involvement with domestic violence victims.

         19                 As was discussed previously, we also

         20  believe that the Board should focus its efforts on

         21  collecting statistical or aggregate data without

         22  client identifiable information.

         23                 As we discussed before, a myriad of

         24  federal and state confidentiality laws protect the

         25  records of various agencies working with domestic
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          2  violence victims, and would seriously limit the

          3  ability of the Board to gather a client identifiable

          4  information.

          5                 Additionally, even if no specific law

          6  prohibits disclosure, we promise victims of domestic

          7  violence the highest level of confidentiality in

          8  order for us as a social service provider, to

          9  provide effective services.

         10                 Generally we do not release client

         11  identifiable information without the client's

         12  written consent, unless we are mandated to do so by

         13  a valid subpoena or order from the court of

         14  competent jurisdiction.

         15                 This promise of confidentiality is

         16  critical to maintaining our relationship, not only

         17  with the individual client, but with all of our

         18  current and future clients.

         19                 The collection and discussion of

         20  aggregate data can be very helpful in our efforts to

         21  review domestic violence fatalities and make changes

         22  to the system.

         23                 Aggregate data can help us identify

         24  where we need to focus our efforts by tracking

         25  demographic and other information, such as
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          2  geographic and ethnic communities, language, age and

          3  history of police reports.

          4                 We also recommend that the Board's

          5  report, as described in the proposed section

          6  19(d)(1)(viii), include a review of the

          7  recommendations made by the Board in previous years,

          8  whether such recommendations were implemented, and

          9  the effectiveness of such recommendations in

         10  preventing domestic violence fatalities.

         11                 Lastly, while Safe Horizon absolutely

         12  agrees with the City Council's goal of reducing the

         13  number of domestic violence fatalities, we believe

         14  it's critical to do so in this most targeted and

         15  effective way possible.

         16                 Many domestic violence fatalities

         17  occur because victims have not been able to avail

         18  them of resources of the protection of our system.

         19                 Often this is a matter of too few

         20  resources. We do not have enough shelter beds to

         21  offer safe space for all victims of domestic

         22  violence. We don't have safe alternative shelter for

         23  the majority of the victims of domestic violence, or

         24  court advocates or attorneys, or translators or

         25  culturally competent services uniformly throughout
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          2  this City and throughout all communities.

          3                 While a domestic violence fatality

          4  review board is a useful tool for assessing our work

          5  in this area, we must also work proactively to make

          6  our services more accessible.

          7                 It is clear that when victims and

          8  those around them know there are domestic violence

          9  services available, they use them.

         10                 Safe Horizon has found that when we

         11  do public awareness campaigns around domestic

         12  violence, our hot line calls increase by

         13  approximately 20 percent.

         14                 We strongly recommend focusing

         15  efforts on increasing public awareness about already

         16  existing services, especially in immigrant or other

         17  communities where English is not the first language.

         18                 We must also ensure preventive

         19  services are available for young people, as those

         20  will help us break the cycle of violence.

         21                 Safe Horizon is proud to be a partner

         22  with the City in this critical effort, and we'll

         23  continue to work with the City Council and the

         24  Mayor's Office on developing new and innovative ways

         25  to combat domestic violence, as well as all violent
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          2  crimes in New York City.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you, Ms.

          5  Hanson.

          6                 We'll hear from Alisa and then from

          7  Anna, and then we will proceed with questions after.

          8                 MS. DEL TUFO: Good afternoon. Thank

          9  you, Chairwoman Boyland and the City Council, for

         10  holding these hearings and for your ongoing support

         11  of domestic violence and other family

         12  violence-related issues.

         13                 Fifteen years ago when I and some

         14  other domestic violence advocates proposed a

         15  Fatality Review Board to the New York City Council,

         16  there was little attention being paid to the issues

         17  of domestic violence and a panel represented a way

         18  to increase visibility of the issues and focus

         19  change efforts.

         20                 Now, many years later, the problem of

         21  domestic violence remains but the situation in New

         22  York City has changed significantly.

         23                 Although I continue to support a

         24  panel, these changes need to be addressed if the

         25  panel is to be effective.
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          2                 Some of the most significant changes

          3  are the substantial increase in the criminal justice

          4  response to domestic violence, and the increase in

          5  knowledge of characteristics of those being killed

          6  through the New York City Department of Health

          7  femicide reports and from others around the country.

          8                 A femicide or female domestic

          9  homicide represents a failure, a failure of our

         10  society to prevent perpetrators escalating their

         11  violence, a failure to offer victims of abuse

         12  adequate information and the array of services that

         13  might have saved her life.

         14                 If done properly, it could be time

         15  for New York City to take the information that we

         16  have and the lessons that we have learned from

         17  others and to create a way to work towards

         18  preventing these tragedies from occurring.

         19                 Some say that there will always be

         20  domestic homicides, there is no way of preventing

         21  some men from killing some women. This may or may

         22  not be true. However, until we are willing to look

         23  at the killings that are occurring in New York City

         24  in a more honest and thorough manner, we cannot say

         25  that we are doing enough to prevent those that are
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          2  preventable.

          3                 There are certain parts of our

          4  society that are often blamed for these tragedies,

          5  the police and the courts. There is sometimes merit

          6  to this blame. But more and more frequently victims

          7  have little or no involvement with these official

          8  systems.

          9                 In New York City, more and more the

         10  women killed are new to the country and either

         11  unfamiliar with, or unwilling to seek help from the

         12  official face of our government.

         13                 Many of these victims are poor, and

         14  studies show that they are trapped by the brutal

         15  economic realities to which these families are

         16  subject. We now know that the lack of affordable

         17  housing, low-wage jobs, male unemployment and

         18  substance abuse keep women in harm's way, even with

         19  orders of protection.

         20                 A Fatality Review Panel will need to

         21  take these issues seriously. Take a look at these

         22  numbers:

         23                 Two-thirds of all perpetrators of

         24  domestic violence were using drugs or alcohol when

         25  they killed.
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          2                 In New York City, black and Latina

          3  women make up approximately 80 percent of all female

          4  homicide victims.

          5                 Over half of these women are killed

          6  in their homes, another 10 percent in the homes of

          7  another family member.

          8                 Traditional police practice is not

          9  necessarily going to prevent these crimes.

         10                 Foreign-born women are

         11  over-represented among female homicide victims. They

         12  represent over 43 percent.

         13                 Male unemployment is now considered

         14  one of the highest risk factors in domestic

         15  homicide.

         16                 When asked why women don't leave

         17  abusive partners, most say they can't support their

         18  children and/or they don't want to make children

         19  homeless.

         20                 Homicide is more likely when a victim

         21  has been previously threatened with a gun.

         22                 We also know that there are over 600

         23  domestic incidence calls to the New York Police

         24  Department each year -- each day, and 400 made to

         25  the City domestic violence hot line.
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          2                 We also know that only a fraction of

          3  those results in an arrest. And only seven percent

          4  of the calls made to the hot line request for

          5  shelter.

          6                 There are more improvements that we

          7  can expect from the system, but what else are we

          8  doing for these women?

          9                 How can we prevent what we know to be

         10  a problem that escalates over time? What options can

         11  we offer to women and children besides an arrest or

         12  shelter?

         13                 A Fatality Review Panel must help to

         14  address these and other questions. What are we

         15  doing, and what can we do better?

         16                 Fatality panels have been established

         17  in cities and states around the country as a way to

         18  dissect domestic homicides.

         19                 For almost a decade, the New York

         20  City Department of Health has completed one of the

         21  most thorough femicide reports in the country.

         22                 Their annual report has described the

         23  universe of femicides in New York City, track

         24  changes as they occur, and made recommendations for

         25  further study.
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          2                 However, there has never been a

          3  formal way of implementing these recommendations,

          4  nor has there been a way to analyze the more

          5  detailed information relevant to large scale

          6  improvements of outcomes for abused women in this

          7  City.

          8                 So, although the medical examiner

          9  determines the physical cause of death, and the

         10  police, of course, may determine who committed the

         11  crime, and the Department of Health prepares an

         12  excellent review of this information, there has been

         13  no official way to determine what might have been

         14  done to prevent the murders in the first place.

         15                 For a panel to be effective, it must

         16  be created with certain protections and limitations.

         17  Because of its proactive mission, the Fatality

         18  Review Panel must not be seen as a way of pointing

         19  fingers at any particular failure that led to the

         20  death.

         21                 If the panel is to work, and have a

         22  positive impact on future practice, it must be made

         23  up of representatives from the advocacy and

         24  governmental agency community, which families are

         25  most likely to come in contact.
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          2                 Service recommendations must be

          3  specific and have a way to be implemented. The issue

          4  of confidentiality must be addressed and empowering

          5  of the panel. It cannot be effective, unless it is

          6  able to obtain confidential information.

          7                 The panel must be able to receive

          8  detailed and sensitive information regarding a

          9  death, interview people involved without pressure

         10  from the outside.

         11                 Information must be held strictly

         12  confidential; and above all, no blame should be

         13  directed to any particular person, agency or

         14  institution.

         15                 All the recommendations for change

         16  should be made in the form of a report. The panel

         17  must take care to make a recommendation with an eye

         18  to the future, not blame for the past.

         19                 In order to perform its work

         20  effectively, the task force must have funding, which

         21  I now hear is in the offing.

         22                 There should be staff and funds to

         23  collect and analyze the information, interview those

         24  connected to any particular case, and prepare

         25  reports that have the weight to affect change.

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  Otherwise, the panel will be just one more

          3  ineffectual and frustrated group of well-intentioned

          4  people making recommendations that never result in

          5  change.

          6                 In addition, the Fatality Review

          7  Panel have traditionally been made up of members of

          8  law enforcement and criminal justice agencies, with

          9  a sprinkling of advocates and other professionals

         10  added for good luck.

         11                 However, if a panel is to make any

         12  significant recommendations, it must take the

         13  current knowledge of fatalities and the specifics of

         14  the fatalities in New York City into consideration.

         15                 This would mean that a much more

         16  diverse array of specters need to be present:

         17  Members of the clergy -- Bea and I, did not talk

         18  before we did this -- substance abuse programs,

         19  poverty, unemployment programs, housing, immigrants'

         20  rights groups and survivors.

         21                 This should reflect the awareness

         22  that most of the perpetrators of these homicides are

         23  substance abusers and are unemployed. In addition,

         24  it would acknowledge that many of the women killed

         25  are not calling the police but are talking to their

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  faith leaders, family members, are members of

          3  immigrant communities, they need better-paying jobs

          4  and affordable housing.

          5                 These realities must not be

          6  overlooked if New York City is genuinely trying to

          7  prevent femicide from occurring.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you very

         10  much, Alisa.

         11                 Anna.

         12                 MS. HUNTER: Good afternoon. My name

         13  is Anna Hunter, and I'm the Assistant Director of

         14  Sanctuary for Families.

         15                 First of all, I would like to thank

         16  Chairwoman Boyland and members of the Women's

         17  Committee for taking the lead in trying to create a

         18  Fatality Review Panel.

         19                 And as you know, in December we

         20  offered extensive comments on the original version

         21  of the legislation, and we really appreciate not

         22  only the fact that you sought our input but

         23  incorporated many of our suggestions. So, thank you.

         24                 Sanctuary for Families, which serves

         25  over 8,000 women and children each year, with legal
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          2  counseling and shelter services, is very much in

          3  support of the Domestic Violence Fatality Review

          4  Panel, and, you know, we think it is an excellent

          5  first step in trying to figure out how we can better

          6  serve women who do not seek our services, because as

          7  both Bea and Alisa have said, you know, seven out of

          8  ten women who were killed who have never contacted

          9  the police or any other agency, and until we know

         10  how and why, we won't, you know, really know how to

         11  better reach out to these women who would benefit

         12  from our services.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: I agree totally.

         14  And as Alisa stated, from 15 years of work, and Bea

         15  stated, we are continuing to move forward in the

         16  fight and we will continue to I guess negotiate back

         17  and forth with the Administration. As we're trying

         18  to put some teeth in it, Alisa. We're trying to make

         19  sure that it's not a group of frustrated people

         20  trying to do something positive, but we're actually

         21  able to make a difference.

         22                 So, we use your suggestions and we

         23  take your suggestions and we try to incorporate them

         24  into something that will come to fruition and really

         25  help domestic violence victims.
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          2                 MS. DEL TUFO: Could I just add a

          3  comment?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Sure.

          5                 MS. DEL TUFO: Because it seems to me

          6  that the confidentiality, the statutory

          7  confidentiality issue is the stumbling block to the

          8  sort of official level panel being proposed. And I

          9  wonder whether there might be a sort of a two-stage

         10  process. Because there is an awful lot of

         11  information that was known about perpetrators and

         12  victims both here and in New York City but also

         13  nationwide, that there be a sort of high level sort

         14  of panel put together just to analyze that

         15  information. It would teach, if there were more than

         16  just, you know, the few, the police and the Mayor's

         17  Office and a few other people in the room discussing

         18  that, I think it could have a big impact in the way

         19  we proceed into the future in terms of doing our

         20  work in the communities.

         21                 And as we're doing that, we could

         22  then start working on the State Legislation and

         23  eventually come up with that, and it could be sort

         24  of two-pronged process.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: That's an easy
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          2  step, and that's not a very difficult step. I was

          3  hearing a few things about people sitting at the

          4  table that may not have --

          5                 MS. DEL TUFO: Been there.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: -- Need to be

          7  there in the assumption.

          8                 MS. DEL TUFO: Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: So, I mean, we

         10  will work out what we need to work out, negotiate,

         11  thanks to Joan. Thanks to Joan, who will work day

         12  and night, night and day, on this issue, as she has

         13  been doing for the last ten years.

         14                 MS. DEL TUFO: Although, I think that

         15  we can increase the sort of interface between the

         16  police and the communities where many of these

         17  femicides are occurring. I think that there are

         18  limits to the police involvement, and we have to

         19  provide other kinds of alternatives for women that

         20  are never going to be comfortable using the criminal

         21  justice system to help them be safe. And there are

         22  other ways of doing -- it's not like that's an

         23  impossible task.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: And, again, we

         25  will talk to the Assembly and the Senate to move
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          2  forward.

          3                 Council Member Charles Barron.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you,

          5  Madam Chair.

          6                 I just want to thank you for your

          7  leadership on this critical issue in our nation and

          8  certainly in this City and in the State.

          9                 I wanted to ask you some questions on

         10  the connection, the relationship of unemployment,

         11  and domestic violence. You know, we've just had

         12  studies come out that 50 percent of black males are

         13  unemployed and even 43 percent of black women are

         14  unemployed as well; do you have any numbers, any

         15  empirical data that could connect some of the

         16  unemployment to fatalities or domestic violence?

         17                 MS. DEL TUFO: The femicide study

         18  which Susan Wilt worked on, the 11-City femicide

         19  study, which the Mayor's Office was talking about,

         20  has statistical data related to the 250 domestic

         21  homicides that they investigate, and then there's

         22  new information coming out of the National Institute

         23  of Justice of Batterers Intervention Programs. I

         24  know it's not the same thing, we're not talking

         25  about a fatality, but we're talking about men who
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          2  are perpetrators involved in a process that is

          3  supposed to help them stop being violent. And you

          4  know more about this, because a lot of the work was

          5  done with Safe Horizon's clients, that employment

          6  status has a lot to do with success rates in the

          7  program.

          8                 The higher success rates are with

          9  employees, men who participate, and less success

         10  with unemployed, and you see that then sort of

         11  escalating with the homicides.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 Also, I'm very interested in

         15  alternatives to policing solutions. One of the

         16  things that I'm always concerned about, I know when

         17  we had a hearing on prostitution and johns, they had

         18  different kind of resolution, Johns School,

         19  whatever, it had a school for the johns in jail for

         20  the prostitutes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: I was just with

         22  the DA last week, they talked about that, by the

         23  way.

         24                 MS. DEL TUFO: Okay.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I found that
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          2  interesting.

          3                 But aside from, and I know with

          4  fatalities you've got to deal with law enforcement

          5  and policing, but in prevention, aside from policing

          6  or tougher sentencing, what are some of the other

          7  ideas around prevention and alternative methods to

          8  policing, or law enforcement?

          9                 MS. HANSON: I think it's a good point

         10  and really something that we need to put a lot more

         11  energy into.

         12                 I think what we find in terms of

         13  prevention is some of the earlier prevention that we

         14  can do, the better, and it seems like studies that

         15  have been done on batterers, the thing that's most

         16  common with batterers is that many of them have

         17  witnessed domestic violence, or witnessed some sort

         18  of violence as a child, and been looking at what

         19  that impact is.

         20                 So, I think some of the school

         21  interventions are really key, and one of the

         22  programs that the City operates through the Human

         23  Resources Administration, the Relationship Abuse

         24  Prevention Program, I think it's a really key one in

         25  terms of getting into the schools to provide
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          2  resources to students, both male and female

          3  students, around teen relationships.

          4                 We also have another program called

          5  "Safe Harbor," which is in a number of the schools,

          6  both junior high and high schools, which is really a

          7  safe place for both girls and boys to come to talk

          8  about issues of violence and victimization in their

          9  lives, either as victims or perpetrators, and I

         10  think getting people, getting kids early is really a

         11  key in also looking at alternatives.

         12                 I think the other thing for adults,

         13  Human Resources Administration has a program called

         14  Alternatives to Shelter, and I think is another

         15  program that we can look at, expanding which is for

         16  women who don't want to go through the court system.

         17  And then also the shelter system finding some sort

         18  of alternative way to keep victims of domestic

         19  violence and their families safe in their home.

         20                 The shelter system isn't going to be

         21  right for everybody, and it means that the victim

         22  and her children need to go to a new location,

         23  probably another borough that they don't have any

         24  connections with, kids have to go out of school and

         25  get into a whole new school, they're able to keep
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          2  women safe in their homes, I think that's also a key

          3  thing.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Another

          5  question I wanted to ask, more on the psychological

          6  level of why a battering occurs.

          7                 You know, I've always been very, very

          8  interested in that, and I'm sure it could take many

          9  different levels, you know, whether they were

         10  victims of battering themselves, or witnesses and

         11  their families, where they've seen their fathers or

         12  batterers, so they become batterers.

         13                 But another, how much do you put into

         14  societal, or race, or racism, any role in that?

         15  Because sometimes I used to think that the more in

         16  the field of social work, you know, you can say we

         17  want to change somebody so they can cope with some

         18  madness that needs to be changed; or do you change a

         19  person to change, things in society?

         20                 Sometimes I feel when people are very

         21  healthy in responding to their real object of

         22  oppression, that that would bring more peace in the

         23  home. Like the likelihood of my wife ever being

         24  battered is slim to none, because I'm beating up the

         25  white men who get on my nerves every day.
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          2                 But what is -- pardon me, just tell

          3  them it's me, Madam Chair -- what part, you know,

          4  psychologically does that play? What part does

          5  viewing battery, being victims of battery play in

          6  turning one into a batterer?

          7                 MS. DEL TUFO: Did you ever see

          8  "Straight Out Of Brooklyn?"

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: No, I didn't.

         10  I heard a lot about it.

         11                 MS. DEL TUFO: You should see that

         12  film, because it addresses those exact issues about

         13  feeling oppressed as a black man in Brooklyn, and

         14  sort of taking it out on members of the family.

         15                 But it's a very good movie, and one

         16  we show a lot in training that we do.

         17                 But I don't think the question is

         18  really answerable, because I think that -- although,

         19  when you look at femicide you see that there is an

         20  over-representation of people of color in this data,

         21  I think when you look at domestic violence in

         22  general, the issues of race disappear more. I think

         23  it's issues more of economics, and those two things

         24  are often conflated.

         25                 And I think why you see employment
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          2  being such a big factor in risk, is because if

          3  you're employed you have a bigger stake in society.

          4  You know, you just are more tied in in a way to

          5  social awareness and social controls, and so the

          6  poorer you are and the less employed you are or

          7  under-employed you are, the less connections you

          8  really have in society, the less you really have to

          9  lose, if you do something that's anti-, you know,

         10  sort of anti-social.

         11                 And, so, I think it's more about

         12  poverty than it is specifically about race. But I

         13  think that race, and racism, and institutions that

         14  have perpetrated racism make it difficult for people

         15  to reach out for some of the help that's available,

         16  for good reasons, and, you know, for reasons that

         17  are just sort of institutionalized.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: And Alisa makes

         19  a very good point, and that was a chart that was not

         20  up there today.

         21                 MS. DEL TUFO: Right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: And if we had

         23  this Board, we can bring all those entities to the

         24  table to see some of what the counteractive, some of

         25  the pointers that cause domestic violence, and the
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          2  economics obviously being of color from Brooklyn

          3  yourself, male/female, it's sort of a everyday

          4  living it kind of situation, and it some things that

          5  may not be printed in a book, or even a movie, you

          6  know, depicting some of the movie roles.

          7                 But I think that's really why we're

          8  talking about this, because those are some of the

          9  triggers that may not be spoken about that causes a

         10  domestic violence. And I think, Charles, you made a

         11  very valid point.

         12                 MS. HUNTER: I just wanted to add

         13  that, even though we may serve predominantly women

         14  with fewer means, women and children, there are

         15  plenty of men in extreme positions of power who beat

         16  their wives and kill them, and occasionally you see

         17  them in the press.

         18                 You know, I certainly have a lot of

         19  friends and acquaintances who have been abused, you

         20  know, and I think that women who are middle class or

         21  upper middle class tend to be, have their own

         22  divorce lawyers, maybe not seek out services.

         23                 But we deal with a lot of immigrant

         24  clients at Sanctuary for Families, and some of the

         25  stories are really interesting because I don't think
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          2  they fit any stereotype of a man that, you know, has

          3  nothing to lose or is sort of at the bottom of

          4  societal ladder, and, you know, aristocrats from

          5  other countries who torture their wives.

          6                 So, I agree with Alisa, it's kind of

          7  unanswerable, you know. And I think that the way

          8  these cases come to light or the way these cases are

          9  dealt with often have to do with economics or race,

         10  certainly when you have police involvement. But just

         11  sort of the incidence of it, I think it's kind of

         12  hard to --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So, there's no

         14  profile of the average batterer?

         15                 MS. HUNTER: I think someone who is

         16  very controlling. I mean, could we safely say that?

         17  Someone who is very controlling.

         18                 MS. HANSON: I think it's difficult,

         19  and there's been many, many studies to try to figure

         20  out what the profile of a batterer is and I think

         21  they've proven to be fairly inconclusive.

         22                 Just an invitation for you, we run

         23  the City's largest batterers' program. We have 400

         24  men going through this program at any time, and we

         25  welcome you to come and --

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Sure.

          3                 MS. HANSON: -- Sit in on it, if you

          4  want to do that, because it's a huge issue. And I

          5  think Alisa's point is really a good one around

          6  economics, and also what resources people have.

          7                 I think you also look at who the

          8  clients are that we serve, that over 90 percent of

          9  the people, the victims that we serve are women of

         10  color. And a lot of it is around, I think it's

         11  conflation of race and economics that Alisa talked

         12  about, and we're also serving people who don't have

         13  other places to go.

         14                 And the criminal justice system is

         15  often providing, you know, I don't want to call it a

         16  service, but working with people who don't have a

         17  lot of other options, and I think that's where we

         18  get the conflation of race and economics, because

         19  it's overwhelmingly people who don't have a lot of

         20  resources.

         21                 But if you want to come to a program

         22  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, I would

         24  be glad to. And thank you very much for your

         25  answers. I just wanted to conclude, Madam Chair, by
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          2  saying that, you know, we have a society and

          3  probably for some while we'll be plagued by sexism,

          4  classism, racism, xenophobia, a whole lot of other

          5  fears, and-isms, but for the record, there's no

          6  excuse for battering, not matter how poor you are,

          7  no matter how oppressed you are, I see that there is

          8  no excuse for it. There are reasons why it happens,

          9  but I just want to let you know, my inquiry wasn't

         10  to find an excuse for it, but just reasons.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: Thank you very

         13  much, ladies. And we will resume this hearing again

         14  and again and again until we get what we want.

         15                 Thank you very much. We are

         16  adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 2:35 p.m.)
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